IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMUEL A. COPPOLA,	
Petitioner,	Case No.: SC01-2442
vs.	DCA Case No.: 5D01-2360 L.T. Case No.: 97-274CF
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	

PETITIONER SAMUEL A. COPPOLA'S INITIAL BRIEF

John R. Blue, FBN 6999 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861 Telephone: (727) 821-7000 Facsimile: (727) 822-3768 -and-

Christine R. Dean, FBN 0569372 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. P.O. Drawer 190 Tallahassee, FL 32302-0190 Telephone: (850) 224-1585 Facsimile: (850) 222-0398

Attorneys for Petitioner

Samuel A. Coppola

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Samuel A. Coppola ("Mr. Coppola"), was indicted for first degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder for criminal offenses that occurred on March 19, 1997. R. 184. On July 27, 1998, Mr. Coppola pleaded guilty to second degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder. R. 28. He was sentenced for a term of thirty-five years for the second degree murder charge and thirty years for the conspiracy charge, both sentences to run concurrently. R. 31, 34, 37. Mr. Coppola did not appeal his judgment and sentence. R. 23.

On June 27, 2000, within two years of the imposition of his judgment and sentence, Mr. Coppola filed a pro se Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a). R. 92. Mr. Coppola argued that his negotiated plea was for a sentence within the 1995 sentencing guidelines that were declared unconstitutional in Heggs v. State, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000) (Appx. A). R. 94-98. He requested that he be resentenced under the correct guidelines. R. 98. The trial court denied Mr. Coppola's motion, and the Fifth District affirmed in a citation PCA opinion. R. 101, 104.

On April 10, 2001, within two years of the release of <u>Heggs</u>, but more than two years after his judgment and sentence became final, Mr. Coppola filed a pro se Motion for Postconviction Relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. R. 327. Mr. Coppola argued that his plea was not entered voluntarily

because he entered the plea based on statements by his counsel that he would be sentenced "somewhere in the middle" of the 1995 sentencing guidelines. R. 330. Mr. Coppola contended that his counsel showed him the actual sentencing guidelines scoresheet and showed him where his points fell in relation to the sentence he would receive. Id. Mr. Coppola explained that he felt he had no choice but to enter the plea because his sentence fell within the guidelines, but had he known that the guidelines were invalid, he would not have entered the plea. R. 45, 330-31. Based on these allegations, Mr. Coppola requested that the trial court vacate and set aside his judgment and sentence, so that he could be resentenced using correct guidelines. R. 331.

The trial court denied Mr. Coppola's 3.850 motion, ruling that the motion was not timely filed. R. 22. The court stated that Mr. Coppola had notice of the Heggs decision as of May 4, 2000, and that Mr. Coppola's applicable time period to raise a Heggs challenge expired just three months later, on August 28, 2000. Id.

The trial court further ruled that rule 3.850 is not available as a means to review errors which were cognizable on direct appeal. Because Mr. Coppola did not appeal his judgment and sentence, Mr. Coppola's claims were also procedurally barred under the court's ruling because "it has long been the law in Florida that post-conviction motions are not to be used as second appeals and claims which were, or could have been, raised on direct appeal are not to be used

as second appeals and claims which were, or could have been, raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a motion filed pursuant to Fla. Crim. P. 3.850." R. 23-24.

The trial court did not explain how Mr. Coppola could have raised this issue had he appealed his judgment and sentence as <u>Heggs</u> had not yet been decided.

Despite these procedural bars, the trial court noted on the merits that the record demonstrates that Mr. Coppola's plea was voluntarily entered. The court so ruled despite the existence of the 1995 guidelines being attached to the Department of Corrections' package. Instead, the trial court relied solely on a letter from Mr. Coppola's trial counsel regarding the plea disposition, which did not reflect any reference to guidelines. The court thus concluded that Mr. Coppola's plea was not conditional or applicable to the guidelines. R. 26.

Mr. Coppola thereafter timely filed a pro se motion for rehearing, arguing that he should have two years from the date of the <u>Heggs</u> decision to raise a <u>Heggs</u> challenge. R. 10. He argued that, since his rule 3.850 motion was filed within two years of this decision, his motion was timely. <u>Id.</u> The trial court denied Mr. Coppola's motion for rehearing. R. 3.

Mr. Coppola appealed the trial court's order to the Fifth District. The Fifth District framed the issue before it as follows: "A determination of the timeliness of Coppola's motion is dependent upon our determination as to whether the decision

in <u>Heggs</u> is to be applied retroactively." <u>Coppola v. State</u>, 795 So. 2d 258, 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (Appx. B). In other words, the Fifth District would have concluded that Mr. Coppola's 3.850 motion was timely if <u>Heggs</u> is retroactive. The court then recognized that a conflict exists among the district courts with respect to whether <u>Heggs</u> should be applied retroactively.

In <u>Regan v. State</u>, 787 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), the First District held that <u>Heggs</u> should not be applied retroactively. This is in stark contrast to <u>Murphy v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) (en banc), and <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 771 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), in which the Second and Fourth Districts held that <u>Heggs</u> should apply retroactively.

The Fifth District adopted the reasoning of the First District in <u>Regan</u> and held that <u>Heggs</u> does not apply retroactively because it does not constitute newly discovered evidence and because it does not meet the retroactivity test of <u>Witt v.</u>
State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). Coppola, 795 So. 2d at 260.

In footnote to its decision, the Fifth District noted that, even if Mr. Coppola's claim were timely filed, he would not be entitled to <u>Heggs</u> relief because, as the trial court found, he was not sentenced pursuant to a guidelines sentence, but rather pursuant to a negotiated plea. <u>Id.</u> Like the trial court, the Fifth District did not explain its basis for this statement.

Mr. Coppola timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court based on conflict between the decision below and <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Murphy</u>. This Court entered an order staying consideration of this case pending disposition of <u>Banks v. State</u>, SC01-2733, which was then pending in this Court.

After deciding <u>Banks</u>, this Court directed the parties to file written responses addressing whether Mr. Coppola's sentence could have been imposed under the 1994 guidelines without a departure, and if so, why this Court should therefore not decline to exercise jurisdiction in this case in light of its decision in <u>Banks</u>.

<u>Coppola v. State</u>, SC01-2442 (Fla. order filed Dec. 27, 2004).

In response to the Court's order, both parties filed written responses demonstrating that Mr. Coppola's sentence legally could not fall within the 1994 guidelines without a departure. Appx. C This Court thereafter accepted jurisdiction of this case, ordered a briefing schedule, and appointed undersigned counsel to represent Mr. Coppola before this Court on a pro bono basis.

This brief is filed pursuant to the Court's order.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On February 17, 2000, this Court released its decision in <u>Heggs</u>, which invalidated chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida (the 1995 sentencing guidelines) because it violated the single subject rule. The statute was thus void in its entirety. This decision applies retroactively, thereby permitting inmates sentenced under the unlawful 1995 guidelines to challenge their unlawful sentences under <u>Heggs</u> within two years of the date of this decision.

First, this Court has held that <u>Heggs</u> relief is available for those who committed their offenses between October 1, 1995, and May 24, 1997. <u>Trapp v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 924, 928 (Fla. 2000) (Appx. D). To deny retroactive application of <u>Heggs</u> would render <u>Trapp</u> a nullity. If <u>Heggs</u> is not retroactive, then inmates have two years from the date of their conviction and sentence to raise a <u>Heggs</u> challenge. Under the window period, many inmates would not be entitled to relief from their unlawful sentences because this time expired before <u>Heggs</u> was even decided. This patently absurd result belies common sense.

Second, <u>Heggs</u> constitutes a jurisprudential upheaval and squarely satisfies each prong of the <u>Witt</u> retroactivity test. <u>Heggs</u> was a change in the law that emanated from this Court, was constitutional in nature, and was of fundamental significance.

In addition, the Second District (sitting en banc) and the Fourth District correctly held that <u>Heggs</u> constitutes a newly discovered fact under rule 3.850(b)(1). That their sentences were lawful was a fact relied upon by inmates in entering their pleas, and it could not have been known prior to Heggs.

Finally, the Fifth District erred in holding that Mr. Coppola was not entitled to relief under <u>Heggs</u> because he entered a negotiated plea. This position has been rejected by this Court in a recent decision. The record in this case also shows that it was error for the trial court and the Fifth District to conclude that Mr. Coppola was not sentenced using the 1995 guidelines. As the trial court's order itself demonstrates, the record does not conclusively prove that Mr. Coppola was not sentenced using the 1995 guidelines.

This Court should quash the instant decision, approve <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Murphy</u>, and hold that <u>Heggs</u> applies retroactively. Because Mr. Coppola timely filed his rule 3.850 motion and because his plea is unconstitutional, he should be automatically resentenced under lawful guidelines.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of whether a decision of this Court must be applied retroactively is a pure question of law, subject to de novo review. State v. Klayman, 835 So. 2d 248, 251 (Fla. 2002); Bunkley v. State, 833 So. 2d 739, 741 (Fla. 2002).

ARGUMENT

The conflict issue before this Court is whether <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000), should be applied retroactively. The Second and Fourth Districts correctly held that it should.

In Murphy v. State, 773 So. 2d 1174, 1175 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), the Second District, sitting en banc, held that Heggs was retroactive and that a prisoner should have two years from the Heggs decision to file this claim because the facts upon which the claim is based could not have been known earlier. In so holding, the Second District adopted the reasoning of the Fourth District in Jenkins v. State, 771 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Murphy, 773 So. 2d at 1175; see also Cox v. State, 805 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Honeycutt v. State, 805 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

As indicated above in the statement of case and facts, the First and Fifth Districts have held otherwise. In <u>Regan</u> and <u>Murphy</u>, the First and Fifth Districts held that <u>Heggs</u> does not apply retroactively.¹

_

¹ Undersigned counsel recognizes that the Second and Fourth Districts in <u>Murphy</u> and <u>Jenkins</u> hold that <u>Heggs</u> is retroactive under rule 3.850(b)(2), and that the First and Fifth Districts in <u>Regan</u> and <u>Coppola</u> held that <u>Heggs</u> was not retroactive under either rule 3.850(b)(1) or (2). The conflict before this Court is the timeliness of a <u>Heggs</u> challenge, regardless of which subdivision of the rule it falls under. This Court should therefore consider whether <u>Heggs</u> is retroactive under either subdivision of the rule.

For the reasons set forth below, this Court should hold that <u>Heggs</u> is retroactive, quash the decision under review, and approve the Second and Fourth Districts' decisions in <u>Murphy</u> and <u>Jenkins</u>.

I. THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>HEGGS</u> IS RETROACTIVE.

In <u>Trapp v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 924, 928 (Fla. 2000), this Court defined the window period for those eligible for <u>Heggs</u> relief. According to <u>Trapp</u>, this Court provided that <u>Heggs</u> relief is available to those who committed their offense between October 1, 1995, and May 24, 1997. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Coppola fits into this window. If <u>Heggs</u> is not retroactive, then inmates, like Mr. Coppola, have two years from the date of their conviction and sentence to raise a <u>Heggs</u> challenge, even though <u>Heggs</u> was decided on February 17, 2000, more than four years after the window period opened. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(b); <u>Regan v. State</u>, 787 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

If this Court were to hold that <u>Heggs</u> is not retroactive, such a holding would render <u>Trapp</u> a nullity. By way of example, if a prisoner committed his or her offense on October 1, 1995, and the judgment and sentence became final one year after that, on October 1, 1996, that prisoner would have to raise a <u>Heggs</u> challenge by October 1, 1998. Obviously, <u>Heggs</u> was not decided then. This patently absurd result belies common sense.

In addition to the common sense suggestion that <u>Heggs</u> must be applied retroactively, this Court's established retroactivity analysis demonstrates that <u>Heggs</u> should be applied retroactively to Mr. Coppola. This Court's law on whether a decision from this Court or the United States Supreme Court should apply retroactively is well established. The hallmark decision on the application of later decisional law is <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). <u>See Bunkley v. State</u>, 882 So. 2d 890, 906 (Fla. 2004) (Wells, J., concurring).

Under <u>Witt</u>, the initial question in a retroactivity analysis is whether the decision constitutes an "evolutionary refinement" or a "jurisprudential upheaval." Only jurisprudential upheavals potentially qualify for retroactive application. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 929-30.

If the decision constitutes a jurisprudential upheaval, then courts must analyze whether the decision should be applied retroactively under the test established in <u>Witt</u>. Under this test, a new rule of law applies retroactively when the following three requirements are satisfied: (1) it must originate either from the United States Supreme Court or the Florida Supreme Court, (2) it must be constitutional in nature, and (3) it must be of fundamental significance. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 931; see also Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 309 (Fla. 2001).

As demonstrated below: (1) <u>Heggs</u> constitutes a jurisprudential upheaval, not an evolutionary refinement, and (2) <u>Heggs</u> meets all three of the <u>Witt</u> requirements and should be applied retroactively.

A. <u>Heggs</u> Constitutes a Major Constitutional Change in the Law That Qualifies as a Jurisprudential Upheaval Under <u>Witt</u>.

Changes in the law by a decision of this Court or the United States Supreme Court fall into two categories: a jurisprudential upheaval or an evolutionary refinement. A "jurisprudential upheaval" is a major constitutional change of law that addresses a basic unfairness in the system. Bunkley, 833 So. 2d at 744; Witt, 387 So. 2d at 929. In contrast, evolutionary refinements afford new or different standards for the admissibility of evidence, for procedural fairness, for proportionality review in capital cases, and for other like matters. Id.

Jurisprudential upheavals are applied retroactively, but evolutionary refinements are not. Id.

This Court recently framed this issue another way, applying the United States Supreme Court's decision in Fiore v. White, 531 U.S. 225 (2001). In State v. Klayman, 835 So. 2d 248, 252 (Fla. 2002), this Court held:

Although Florida courts have not previously recognized the <u>Fiore</u> distinction between a "clarification" and a "change," we conclude that this distinction is beneficial to our analysis of Florida law. Previously, this Court analyzed such cases strictly under <u>Witt</u>, and used the term "change" broadly to include what in fact were both clarifications and true changes. [evolutionary

refinements and jurisprudential upheavals]. As explained in <u>Fiore</u>, however, a simple clarification of the law does not present an issue of retroactivity and thus does not lend itself to a <u>Witt</u> analysis. Whereas <u>Witt</u> remains applicable to "changes" in the law, <u>Fiore</u> is applicable to "clarifications" in the law.

<u>Id.</u> at 252-53 (citation omitted). This Court went on to define a clarification as follows: "A clarification is a decision of this Court that says what the law has been since the time of enactment." <u>Id.</u> at 253 (emphasis added).²

As this Court is well aware, <u>Heggs</u> did not simply clarify the law or afford a procedural change to existing law. It <u>invalidated</u> sentencing guidelines because the sentencing statute was unconstitutional. A decision invalidating a law most certainly is a change in the law; it cannot be construed as a clarification or refinement of a law previously enacted. Thus, <u>Heggs</u> constitutes a change in the law sufficient to qualify as a jurisprudential upheaval subject to the <u>Witt</u> retroactivity test.

² Undersigned counsel recognizes that the jurisprudential upheaval/evolutionary refinement distinction has sometimes been applied in the analysis of the third prong of the <u>Witt</u> test. <u>See, e.g., Hughes v. State, 901 So. 2d 837, 840 (Fla. 2005); Callaway v. State, 642 So. 2d 636, 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). In the interest of coherency, counsel discusses this issue here because, if <u>Heggs</u> constituted an evolutionary refinement (which it does not), then there would be no need to apply the three-part <u>Witt</u> retroactivity test. This order of analysis appearing in this brief also appears to be required by <u>Witt</u> and <u>Klayman</u>.</u>

B. Heggs Satisfies the Three-Prong Witt Test.

1. <u>Heggs</u> Originated from the Florida Supreme Court.

In <u>Heggs</u>, this Court invalidated chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, as unconstitutional because it violated the single subject rule, and therefore it was void in its entirety. 759 So. 2d at 640. Among other things, chapter 95-184 contained the revised 1995 sentencing guidelines. <u>Heggs</u> plainly originated from the Florida Supreme Court. It thus meets the first prong of the <u>Witt</u> test.

2. <u>Heggs</u> Was Constitutional in Nature.

In <u>Heggs</u>, this Court held that chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, violated article III, section 6, of the Florida Constitution. <u>Heggs</u> thus meets the second prong of the <u>Witt</u> test because it was constitutional in nature. <u>See also Regan</u>, 787 So. 2d at 268 (holding that <u>Heggs</u> was constitutional in nature because it violated the single subject rule).

3. <u>Heggs</u> Is a Decision of Fundamental Significance.

The third prong of the <u>Witt</u> test – that the decision must be of fundamental significance – itself may be satisfied in two separate ways. A decision that is a development of fundamental significance may be categorized as either involving:

(1) changes which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) changes which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-part

sub-test of <u>Stovall v. Denno</u>, 388 U.S. 293 (1967), and <u>Linkletter v. Walker</u>, 318 U.S. 618 (1965). <u>Johnson v. State</u>, No. SC03-1042, 2005 WL 977027, at *6 (Fla. Apr. 28, 2005).

Heggs falls into the second category. Thus, it is necessary to consider whether Heggs is of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application under the three-part sub-test set forth in Stovall. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 929. The three sub-parts considered in this test are: (1) the purpose to be served by the new rule, (2) the extent of reliance on the old rule, and (3) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule. Stovall, 388 U.S. at 297.

a. The Purpose Served by the Rule Announced in <u>Heggs</u>.

The purpose of this Court's decision in <u>Heggs</u> was to strike down a law that violated a provision of the Florida Constitution – a decision of manifest importance. Florida's constitution expressly prohibits the Legislature from enacting a law that contains more than one subject, particularly where, as here, the defect in the law affects a person's liberty interests. Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const. This Court recently acknowledged the important purpose served by invalidating laws that violate the single subject provision when it held a similar decision involving criminal sentences retroactive. This Court stated:

We realize that our decision here [that chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida violated the single subject rule] will

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