#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2442 DCA CASE NO. 5D01-2630

SAMUEL A. COPPOLA,

Petitioner,

-VS-

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

KELLIE A. NIELAN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0618550 Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, FL 32118 Telephone: (386) 238-4990 Facsimile: (386) 238-4996

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Coppola is not entitled to relief from his plea. First and foremost, Coppola never alleged in his post conviction motion that he was entitled to relief based on a change in law that should be applied retroactively, and should not be permitted to now seek relief on this basis. In addition, there is no conflict among the district courts on this issue as only two have addressed it, and both are in agreement. Further, as both the trial court and Fifth District Court of Appeal found, Coppola was not sentenced pursuant to the guidelines, but rather, to a negotiated plea for a specific sentence.

In any event, based upon the reasoning of the First District Court of Appeal, in *Regan v. State*, 787 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), and followed by the Fifth District in the instant case, this Court should conclude that  $Heggs^1$  does not apply retroactively. The Heggs decision is not a "newly discovered fact" within the meaning of Rule 3.850, and thus does not constitute an exception to the two year time limitation. Further, when analyzed under the *Witt* criteria, the Heggs decision is not such a fundamental upheaval of established law as to warrant retroactive application.

<sup>1</sup> Heggs v. State, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000)

#### **ARGUMENT**

TO THE EXTENT THAT COPPOLA ASSERTS A CHANGE IN THE LAW REQUIRING RETROACTIVE APPLICATION AS A BASIS FOR RELIEF, THE CLAIM WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW NOR IS THERE CONFLICT AMONG THE DISTRICT COURTS; THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT COPPOLA IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

Coppola was indicted for first degree murder and conspiracy to commit first degree murder for offenses that occurred in 1997. In 1998, he pled guilty to second degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder in exchange for a 35 year sentence. Coppola now contends that this Court's decision in *Heggs v. State*, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000), constitutes a change in law that should be retroactively applied to his plea and sentence which were entered in 1998. He claims that because his plea is unconstitutional, he should be automatically resentenced under lawful guidelines. Respondent disagrees.

A. Coppola never alleged that he was entitled to relief based on a change in law that should be applied retroactively.

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, no motion shall be considered beyond the two year time limitation unless it (a) alleges that the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant and could not have been ascertained by due diligence, or (b) the fundamental constitutional right

asserted was not established within the two year time limitation and has been held to apply retroactively. Coppola first claims that this Court's decision in Heggs v. State, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000) must be applied retroactively pursuant to Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). A review of Coppola's 3.850 motion demonstrates that he never alleged a retroactive change in the law that should be applied to him, nor did the trial court ever rule on this issue. Coppola claimed that he was filing the motion based on facts unknown to him and which could not have been known earlier,<sup>2</sup> and the trial court ruled that the motion had been filed beyond the two year time limit. A claim not presented to the trial court in a Rule 3.850 motion cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of post conviction relief. Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). Respondent contends that Coppola should not be permitted to seek relief on a basis that was never alleged in his post conviction motion.

Respondent would also point out that there is no conflict among the district courts on this issue. Only the First and Fifth Districts have expressly addressed the issue of the retroactive application of *Heggs* under *Witt*, and both agree it is not entitled to retroactive application. *Regan v. State*, 787 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2001); *Coppola v. State*, 795 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001). The Second and Fourth Districts have found that defendants should have two years from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondent will address this allegation in its retroactivity analysis.

issuance of *Heggs* to raise the claim in a 3.850 motion because the facts on which the claim is predicated could not have been known earlier (which is the exception set forth in 3.850(b)(1)). *Murphy v. State*, 773 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); *Jenkins v. State*, 771 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). *See also, Foster v. State*, 794 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), *rev. denied*, 900 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 2005) and *Herrera v. State*, 833 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), *rev. denied*, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 1796 (Fla. August 25, 2005), which both certified conflict with *Murphy*. *But see*, *Paul v. State*, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 16892 (Fla. September 1, 2005).

#### B. Coppola was not sentenced pursuant to the guidelines.

Respondent next contends that *Heggs* is not even applicable to the facts of the instant case because, as both the trial court and district court found, Coppola did not receive a guidelines sentence. A review of the plea hearing shows that the sentencing guidelines were never mentioned (R 38-62). The prosecutor stated that defense counsel had made a proposal to him, and he conveyed the proposal to the victim's family, which requested a counter proposal (R 39-40). The proposal (which was the letter referred to by the trial court) was a request for a guilty plea to second degree murder and a 32 year sentence, and states, "[w]e believe this sentence serves the interest of the people of the State of Florida and the victim's family and permits our client some limited hope of freedom late in his life" (R 207). The prosecutor countered with 35 years, which was agreed to by both

parties. There was never any reference to the guidelines. In fact, Coppola asserted in his 3.850 motion that counsel was ineffective for not assuring at the plea hearing that this was a guidelines sentence, which further indicates it was not. Where a plea agreement is not conditioned on the guidelines, relief is not warranted. *See, Bonilla v. State*, 766 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000).

#### C. Heggs does not apply retroactively.

Even if this Court finds that Coppola's claim is properly before it, he is not entitled to any relief because *Heggs* does not apply retroactively to sentences imposed pursuant to pleas where the convictions were final prior to the decision in *Heggs*. Coppola's convictions and sentences, which were imposed pursuant to a negotiated plea, became final in August, 1998, almost two years before this Court's decision in *Heggs v. State*, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000) (rehearing denied July 10, 2000). The motion for post-conviction relief in the instant case was filed on April 10, 2001. That motion was untimely, as *Heggs* should not apply retroactively. Whether a decision of this Court must be applied retroactively is a pure question of law, subject to *de novo* review. *Bunkley v. State*, 833 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 2002), *vacated on other grounds, Bunkley v. Florida*, 538 U.S. 835 (2003).

First, *Heggs* should not apply retroactively when the sentence at issue is one which has been imposed pursuant to a negotiated plea. When the sentence has been imposed pursuant to a plea, any effort to challenge it must also challenge the

plea and the conviction. This flows from the general principle that when a defendant accepts the benefits of a plea, the defendant may not thereafter pick those parts of the plea which the defendant wishes to retain while attempting to set aside other onerous portions of the plea. A plea is a package deal, and it stands or falls as a package. *See, e.g., Williams v. State*, 650 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. lst DCA 1995); *Jolly v. State*, 392 So. 2d 54, 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) ("As the negotiations were based on a material mistake of law, the plea was invalid and no legal sentence could be imposed. The remedy, in those circumstances, is not to correct the sentence but to set aside the plea (and the consequent judgment and sentence). . .").

Interestingly, Coppola never mentions the possibility of withdrawing from his plea deal and proceeding to trial on a charge of first degree murder, where he will face a sentence of death or life without the possibility of parole. He asserts that his "negotiated plea deal is unconstitutional", and claims that he should be automatically resentenced under the 1994 guidelines. In essence, his claim is "I would not have entered a plea to a term of years if I had known that the guidelines would be found unconstitutional, so I am entitled to a guidelines sentence." To merit relief, he would have to allege at a minimum that the **State** agreed to a guidelines sentence as part of the deal. A claim that his attorney recommended he enter into the plea because the sentence was within the current guidelines is nothing more than a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to anticipate a

change in the law. This Court has consistently rejected such claims. *Cummings-El* v. *State*, 863 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 2003).

#### 1. The Heggs Decision is Not a "Fact" Under Rule 3.850

As used in Rule 3.850, the term "fact" only "contemplates a fact in the sense of evidence, which is anything which tends to prove or disprove a material fact." Regan v. State, 787 So. 2d 265, 267 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). See also, Coppola, 795 So. 2d at 259 (agreeing with the conclusions of the First District). Heggs is not a new fact. It is no more than an application of an established rule of law: laws passed by the legislature that have more than one subject are unconstitutional. The "fact" involved in Heggs is not that this Court decided the case. Rather, it is the "fact" that Chapter 95-184, which set out the 1995 guidelines, had more than one subject. This "fact" was ascertainable, even if debatable, by reviewing Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, at the time it was published. As the "fact" of the single subject violation was something which could be ascertained by reviewing the law when it was published, it would not qualify as a fact under Rule 3.850(b)(1), which requires that the qualifying facts could not have been ascertained by due diligence.

The *Regan* Court recognized that the existence of the change in law here merely affects sentencing, and does not have a tendency to prove or disprove guilt or innocence. It concluded that if this change in the law is considered to be a "fact" contemplated by Rule 3.850, it would follow that every change in law would

So. 2d at 267. Respondent submits that the effect of such an allegation is the same as an allegation that counsel was ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in the law, and that change, while not subject to *Witt* application, should be applied to a defendant after his conviction is final. As stated, this Court has consistently rejected such claims. *Cummings-El v. State*, 863 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 2003).

# 2. The Heggs decision is not a fundamental upheaval of established law warranting retroactive application.

The second exception to the two-year time limitation for Rule 3.850 motions is for claims that are based on a fundamental, constitutional right that was not established within the two-year time period and has been held to apply retroactively. The criteria for such retroactive application are set forth in *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). *Witt* requires that the change in law (a) emanate from this Court or the Supreme Court of the United States; and (b) be constitutional in nature; and (c) constitute a development of fundamental significance. *Witt* was designed to balance the goals of ensuring finality of decisions and ensuring fairness and uniformity in individual cases. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 925. As a result of the importance of the goal of finality, *Witt* requires that changes in decisional law be of substantial significance. This Court reiterated the importance of finality and the requirement for a major change in the law in

Mitchell v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 2001), when it held that the change must be a "'sweeping change of law' of 'fundamental significance' constituting a 'jurisprudential upheaval.'" 786 So. 2d at 529 (quoting Witt). Reiterating the principles of Witt, this Court, in State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1990), emphasized that decisions which were merely evolutionary refinements of existing law did not apply retroactively. Based on the importance of finality, the Court stated that "this Court rarely finds a change in decisional law to require retroactive application." Glenn, 558 So. 2d at 7.

In *Regan*, the First District Court of Appeal carefully analyzed the issue of the retroactivity of *Heggs* under *Witt* and concluded that *Heggs* did not apply retroactively and did not constitute an exception to the two year limitations period under Rule 3.850(b). *Regan*, 787 So. 2d at 267-69. The district court first determined that the *Heggs* decision emanated from this Court. The Court also found it is constitutional in nature in the sense that the enacting legislation was found to violate the single subject rule. Respondent questions whether *Heggs* even meets this prong. *Witt* simply uses the language "constitutional in nature", but Rule 3.850(b)(2) requires that a "fundamental constitutional right" be asserted to avoid the two year time bar. The content of the guidelines has never violated the constitution. It was simply the manner in which they were originally enacted that did. As the *Regan* Court noted in its analysis, there is no constitutional right to be

sentenced under the guidelines. *Id.* at 269. Thus, it would appear that no "fundamental constitutional right" is implicated that would entitle defendants to avoid the two year time limitation of Rule 3.850.

In any event, the *Regan* Court concluded that the change in law created by *Heggs* did not constitute a development of fundamental significance. *Id.* at 268. The Court determined that *Heggs* did not remove from the State of Florida the power to regulate certain conduct or to impose certain penalties. Nor was it a landmark decision that divested the State of any powers. *Id.* at 267. The Court then analyzed the three part test set forth in *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293 (1967), and *Linkletter v. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618 (1965), which was emphasized in the *Witt* opinion: (i) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (ii) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (iii) the effect that retroactive application of the rule will have on the administration of justice. *Regan*, 787 So. 2d at 267.

The Court first found that the purpose of the rule in *Heggs* "was not to correct any fundamental sentencing unfairness or to even correct a problem with the guidelines." *Id.* at 268. Rather, "[t]he purpose of the *Heggs* decision was to uphold the single subject rule which prevents the legislature from passing multiple laws that have no logical connection to one another under one title." *Id.* Significantly, the amendments to the 1995 sentencing guidelines were, in fact, reenacted and did, in fact, apply to thousands of criminal cases between 1997 and

1998, so there was clearly nothing fundamentally unfair about the guidelines. As the *Regan* Court recognized, there was no inherent problem with the 1995 guidelines, but only a technical defect because Chapter 95-184 contained criminal and civil provisions that had no logical connection to one another. *Id.* at 269. The court thus concluded that the *Heggs* decision does not meet the first prong of the *Stovall/Linkletter* test. *Id.* 

The second factor to consider in the retroactivity analysis is the reliance by the courts on the old rule. This factor was deemed inapplicable by the *Regan* Court, because "the *Heggs* decision did not replace an old rule with a new rule. It merely prevented use of the 1995 guidelines during a two-year window, and only for those defendants who were adversely affected." *Id*.

The final factor in the retroactivity analysis under *Witt* is the effect on the administration of justice and whether such an adverse effect would be "serious enough to outweigh the concern for fairness and uniformity in individual cases." *Id.* As noted in *Regan*, *Heggs* "does not provide for uniformity in individual cases, but rather it calls for a case-by-case analysis of whether the individual defendant could have been sentenced to his present sentence without a departure under the 1994 guidelines." *Id.* Furthermore, post-conviction proceedings "may not be used to correct individual miscarriages of justice in the 'absence of fundamental and constitutional law changes which cast serious doubt on the veracity or integrity of

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